IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections,

Petitioner,

Case No.: SC04-1153 L.T. Case No. 2D03-4364

vs.

CLARENCE W. DOWNS, DC# 251539

Respondent.

PETITIONER DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' MERITS BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, State of Florida

BARBARA DEBELIUS

FLORIDA BAR NO. 0972282 ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 2601 BLAIR STONE ROAD TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-2500 (850) 488-2326

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER,
JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., SECRETARY,
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
CORRECTIONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Preliminary Statement: The petitioner, Secretary James V. Crosby, Jr., will be referred to as the Florida Department of Corrections or "DOC"; the respondent, Clarence Downs, will be referred to by his last name. There was no record on appeal prepared by the Second District for its certiorari proceeding as it was an original proceeding. This Court's order of December 6, 2004, indicates that the record will not be sent by the Second District to this Court until after this brief is due. Further, the Second District has informed the undersigned that when its submits the record to this Court the pages will not be numbered. Thus, for the convenience of the Court and the parties, counsel for DOC has prepared a pagenumbered appendix (of the most relevant documents which were part of the record in the Second District) and will refer both to the description of the document and the page number of DOC's appendix.

B. Jurisdiction:

This case is before the Court on discretionary review of the Second

District's decision in <u>Downs v. Crosby</u>, 874 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (ex

post facto violation occurs when DOC retroactively applies 1992 clarifying

legislation to make Habitual Offenders ineligible for overcrowding credits). This

Court has granted review to DOC on the basis of conflict with the First District's decision in McBride v. Moore, 780 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (Ex Post Facto clause is NOT violated when DOC retroactively applies 1992 clarifying legislation to make Habitual Offenders ineligible for overcrowding credits because clarifying legislation made it clear that the intent of the prior law was to preclude an award of provisional release credits if the defendant is sentenced as an Habitual Offender at any time).

C. Facts:

1. Downs was sentenced to serve a number of 1991 concurrent "Guidelines sentences" totaling 12 years. See Habeas Petition - Doc. 2 - App. at 5-6. After he finished serving those sentences, he had a consecutive 15-year Habitual Offender sentence to serve in a 1992 case. Id. This meant he had an overall 27-year prison term. (12 + 15 = 27). The following page sets forth in more detail the criminal offenses/sentences at issue in this case: See Habeas Petition - Doc. 2 - App. at 5-6.

¹ The documents numbered 1 thru 5 contained in DOC's appendix to this Brief were also included in the Appendix Petitioner filed with his Petition for Writ of Certiorari (originally entitled "Initial Brief of Appellant").



TYPE OF SENITENCE	- GUIDELINES - CONCURRENT	- GUIDELINES - CONCURRENT	- GUIDELINES - CONCURRENT		*HABITUAL OFFENDER * GONSECUTIVE
PRISON SENITENCE LENGTH	12 YRS	5 YRS	12 yrs	3	15 yrs
CASE NO.	91-1093	91-1093	91-6041		92-0464
COUNTY	PINELLAS	PINELLAS	PINELLAS		PINELLAS
SENTIENCE DATE	4/07/1992	4/07/1992	10/22/1992		10/22/1992
OFFENSE	POSS. FIREARM BY FELON	AGG. ASSAULT	ROBBERY		ROBBERY
OFFENSE DATE	01/19/1991	#2 01/19/1991	4/10/1991		01/10/1992
	#	#5	8 #		7 #

- 2. In 2003, Downs informed DOC personnel that he believed he should be awarded prison overcrowding gain time (Provisional Credits) on the Guidelines sentences despite the fact that he had been subsequently adjudicated an Habitual Offender on his consecutive sentence. See Section 944.277(1)(g), Florida Statutes. See Internal Administrative Appeal Denial Doc. 1 App. at 1-2.
- 3. Also in 2003, DOC denied Downs' request citing McBride v. Moore
 780 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (Ex Post Facto clause is NOT violated when
 DOC retroactively applies 1992 clarifying legislation to make Habitual Offenders
 ineligible for overcrowding credits because clarifying legislation made it clear that
 the intent of the prior law was to preclude an award of provisional release credits
 if the defendant is sentenced as an Habitual Offender at any time). See Internal
 Administrative Appeal Denial Doc. 1 App. at 1-2.
- On July 10, 2003, Downs filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas
 Corpus/Alternatively Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the circuit court in Polk
 County. <u>See</u> Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Doc. 2 App. at 3-15.
- 5. On August 20, 2003, the circuit court denied the petition, agreeing with DOC that since Downs had been adjudicated an Habitual Offender, he was ineligible for Provisional Credits (on any of his sentences). Doc. 3 App. at 16-17.

- 6. Petitioner appealed the case to the Second District Court of Appeal, see

 Downs' Petition for Writ of Certiorari App. at p. 27-44, which treated his

 pleadings as a petition for writ of certiorari.²
- 7. On April 23, 2004, the Second District granted the petition for writ of certiorari and quashed the circuit court's order denying the petition for writ of habeas corpus in a written opinion containing directions that the court re-consider the petition for writ of habeas corpus "in accordance with section 944.277(1)(g), Florida Statutes (1991) [the version of the overcrowding gain time (Provisional Credits) statutes in effect when Downs committed his guidelines offenses], as interpreted by <u>Duggar v. Anderson</u>, 593 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)."

 See 2d DCA's Written Decision/Opinion in <u>Downs v. Crosby</u>, 874 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004)- **Doc. 12 App. at 83-87.**

See Downs Notice of Appeal - Doc. 5 -App. at 22-24; 2d DCA Order advising that Appeal will be Treated as Petition for Writ of Certiorari - Doc. 6 - App. at 25-26; 2d DCA's Order Treating Downs' Initial Brief as the Petition for Writ of Certiorari - Doc. 8 - App. at 45-46. See Downs' Petition for Writ of Certiorari with Appendix filed in the 2d DCA (originally filed as the Initial Brief of Appellant Downs) - Doc. 7 - Appendix at 27-44; 2d DCA's Order Treating Downs' Initial Brief as the Petition for Writ of Certiorari - Doc. 8 - App. at 45-46; 2d DCA's Order to Show Cause requiring response by DOC - Doc. 9 - App. at 47-48; DOC's Response to Petition for Writ of Certiorari - Doc. 10 - App. at 49-72; Downs' Reply ("Answer") - Doc. 11 - App. at 73-82.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Legislature has always intended to exclude Habitual Offenders from the award of Provisional Credits because such offenders should not be released early when prison overcrowding occurs. The Legislature always intended that offenders be ineligible on ALL SENTENCES, once he or she is given an Habitual Offender sentence, regardless of whether the Habitual Offender is serving sentences imposed before or after receiving the Habitual Offender sentence.

At one time the First District mistakenly thought otherwise and said so in Anderson v. Duggar, 593 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Shortly thereafter, the Second District in McBride v. State, 601 So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) held the same thing, specifically relying on the First District's decision in Anderson.

Fortunately, however, immediately after those decisions the Legislation acted to clarify its ORIGINAL INTENT. At its next occasion, the First District recognized its error and explicitly receded from Anderson in McBride v. Moore 780 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (Ex Post Facto clause is NOT violated when DOC retroactively applies 1992 clarifying legislation to make Habitual Offenders ineligible for overcrowding credits because clarifying legislation made it clear that the intent of the prior law was to preclude an award of provisional release credits if the defendant is sentenced as an Habitual Offender at any time).

This Court has held that a court may look to a statutory amendment to determine the intent of the prior version of that statute if the amendment "is enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the original act arise."

<u>Lowry v. Parole & Prob. Comm'n</u>, 473 So. 2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1985).

The Second District erroneously concluded in the case under review (Downs v. Crosby, 874 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004)), that giving effect to the clarifying legislation would constitute a violation of the Ex Post Facto clause.

In order for there to be an ex post facto violation the new law must be retrospectively applied and it must disadvantage the offender. For gain time cases that means that the new law must be applied to sentences for offenses which were committed prior to the law's enactment. See Winkler v. Moore 831 So. 2d 63, 67-68 (Fla. 2002) (explaining what the United States Supreme Court's use of the phrase retrospective application of a law to "events occurring before its enactment" means when it comes to gain time cases).

Giving affect to clarifying legislation is not the same thing as retroactively applying completely new legislation. Since the 1992 amendments to the Provisional Credits statute were simply a clarification of the original intent of the prior version, there is no "change" in the law, only a correction of the original, proper meaning. In other words, the original law is the one that is being applied

and there is really no retroactive application of any NEW or <u>later-enacted law</u>.

That being the case, the first element - retrospective application - is not present in this case.

To be sure, the Legislature should not be allowed to retroactively change the law by simply asserting that it is "clarifying its intent" every time a court issues an opinion it does not like. When there is a true change in legislative law, that change should not be applied retroactively (if it increases punishment). This is not such a case. In this case, the original law could easily and should really have been read to exclude all inmates sentenced as Habitual Offenders regardless of which sentence they are serving. The First District was simply wrong in its interpretation and the amendment was put forth to correct that misinterpretation. While it is an elementary concept that the Legislative Branch makes "the law" and the Judicial Branch interprets "the law," separation of powers principles compel the conclusion that if a court has completely misinterpreted law written by the Legislative Branch, the Legislative Branch should be permitted to correct that misinterpretation.

The Second District seemed to feel that it was constrained to find an ex post facto violation based on this Court's decision in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989). Nevertheless, the Second District misunderstood this Court's decision

in <u>Smith</u> because it failed to appreciate the difference between a true change in legislation (one type of a change in "the law") and a change in case law (another type of change in "the law").

The Second District thought that this Court in Smith had prohibited courts from correcting improper interpretations of pre-existing statutory law. In Smith, this Court prohibited the retrospective application of new case law based on true changes to statutory legislation (or new case law based on new statutory legislation). In other words, if a court interprets a statute correctly but the Legislature does not like the result and changes the statute to change the result, that is a true change in legislative law. When the court again looks at the statute (as amended) and sees that it is now means something different, that court's decision should not be applied retroactively (if it increases punishment) because that would be applying new law to people and things that should be controlled by the old law.

In this case, while there was new case law (the First District issued a new opinion), there was no new statutory law - simply a clarification of old law that had been improperly interpreted in the first place.

Further, to the extent <u>Smith</u> could be read to prohibit the retroactive application of any new court decision, this Court has already implicitly receded

from that decision in Mayes v. Moore, 827 So. 2d 967, 973 (Fla. 2002) ("The Supreme Court has held that the Ex Post Facto Clause of the United States Constitution does not generally apply to case law. . . . only when it results in an "unforeseeable enlargement of a criminal statute.").

Like the gain time statute this Court interpreted in Mayes, a corrected interpretation of the Provisional Credits statute as intending to disqualify Habitual Offenders regardless of which sentence they are serving is completely foreseeable. Accordingly, retrospective application of the 1992 clarifying legislation to pre-1992 sentences does not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause.

ARGUMENT

I. RETROACTIVELY APPLYING LEGISLATIVE CLARIFICATIONS TO ORIGINAL INTENT DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EX POST FACT CLAUSE WHEN THE CLARIFICATION IS NOT A TRUE CHANGE IN THE LAW

A. History of Florida's Overcrowding/Early Release Statutes

In 1983, the Florida Legislature enacted the Emergency Gain Time statute, the first of several prison overcrowding gain time statutes. § 944.598, Fla. Stat. (1983). The statute allowed for the early release of certain inmates when prison overcrowding surpassed a certain level. § 944.598(1), Fla. Stat. (1983). The Emergency Gain Time statute was repealed effective June 17, 1993. Ch. 93-406, §§ 32, 44, at 2966, 2974, Laws of Fla.

In its place, in 1987, the Legislature enacted a second early-release, prison overcrowding statute -- the Administrative Gain Time statute. § 944.276, Fla. Stat. (1987).³ This statute specifically excluded certain violent or repeat offenders from

[T]he Supreme Court's discussion of that statute [the Emergency Gain Time Statute] was merely a reaffirmation of the "core Ex Post Facto" argument that all the later overcrowding statutes were really the same, at least for purposes of deciding whether a later statute was merely a "revamping" of the prior statute. In other

³ As this Court noted in <u>Gomez v. Singletary</u> 733 So. 2d 499, 507 (Fla. 1998):

receiving administrative gain-time credits. Inmates were able to receive credits unless such inmates:

(d) were sentenced under <u>s. 775.084</u> [the Habitual Offender statute]. § 944.276(1)(d), Fla. Stat. (1987) (Emphasis added).

In 1988, the Legislature repealed the Administrative Gain Time statute, and replaced it with the Provisional Credits statute. § 944.277, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988); ch. 88-122, § 5, 6, at 535-37, 572, Laws of Fla. As this Court has recognized, in many ways, the new statute was very similar to the Administrative Gain Time statute, except that it excluded additional types of offenses. It was, in essence, a refinement of the Administrative Gain Time statute and like the prior statute, the

words, we believe that the Supreme Court's discussion of that statute was only meant to reject the Department of Corrections' assertions in that case that all the separate overcrowding statutes had nothing to do with each other and that an inmate's entitlement to overcrowding credits under one statute terminated upon the enactment of a new statute.

^{&#}x27;This Court has recognized that Administrative Gain Time and Provisional Credits were essentially the same thing. See Mayes v. Moore, 827 So. 2d 967, 973 (Fla. 2002) ("The Department had long considered administrative gain time to be forfeitable upon supervision revocation, and this Court had previously held that provisional credits were essentially the same as administrative gain time."). See Griffin v. Singletary, 638 So. 2d 500, 501 n. 1 (Fla. 1994).

new statute allowed credits unless an inmate:

is <u>sentenced</u> or has previously been sentenced, <u>under s. 775.084</u>,[Habitual Offender statute] <u>or</u> has been <u>sentenced at any time</u> in another jurisdiction as a habitual offender.

§ 944.277(1)(g), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988) (Emphasis added).

Effective September 1, 1990, the Legislature enacted another version of the early release gain time statutes - the Control Release Program. This version essentially "lifted" much of the language from the Provisional Credits statute but also incorporated several of the more discretionary aspects of a traditional parole-type program. This was a further refinement intended to ensure that only the least dangerous inmates would be released early when prison overcrowding occurred. § 947.146, Fla. Stat. (1989); ch. 89-526, §§ 1, 2, 52, at 2659-61, 2690, Laws of Fla.; Gomez, 733 So. 2d at 501-502. Like the previous two statutes, an inmate sentenced as an Habitual Offender was STILL not eligible prison overcrowding gain time under the Control Release program. § 947.146(4)(e), Fla. Stat. (1989).

B. Rendering Habitual Offenders Ineligible for Early Release Credits on Previous Non-Habitual Offender Sentences Does Not Increase the Non-Habitual Offender Sentences.

Habitual Offenders receive longer sentences and are kept incarcerated longer than other offenders not just as increased punishment, but also for purposes

of protecting the public from an offender who has demonstrated his or her propensity for crimes - hence the term "habitual." See Henderson v. State, 569 So. 2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (the sentence imposed for a subsequent offense is enhanced on the theory that the defendant's prior conviction of a violent felony indicates the "incorrigible and dangerous character of the accused and establish[es] the necessity for enhanced restraint.")

It would make sense, therefore, that the Legislature would not want these types of offenders to be set free when unconstitutional prison overcrowding occurs. Once a court determines that a defendant qualifies as an Habitual Offender and thus a danger to society, allowing that offender to have his other non-habitual offender sentences reduced by the award of Provisional Credits would not make sense. In reality, not allowing the award of prison overcrowding credits does not really increase the prior non-habitual sentence, it simply effectuates the habitual offender sentence. This Court has noted in <u>Tillman v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 609 So. 2d 1295, 1298 (Fla. 1992), that:

The purpose of the habitual offender act is to allow enhanced penalties for those defendants who meet objective guidelines indicating recidivism. The enhanced punishment, however, is only an incident to the last offense. The act does not create a new substantive offense. It merely prescribes a longer sentence for the subsequent offenses which triggers the operation of the act.

Id. (quoting Eutsey v. State, 383 So. 2d 219, 223 (Fla. 1980)).

C. Judicial Interpretation of the Habitual Offender Disqualification in the Provisional Credits Statute.

Despite the legislature's rather apparent intent that Habitual Offenders not be released early when overcrowding occurred, on February 7, 1992, in <u>Dugger v.</u> Anderson, 593 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the First District interpreted the Habitual Offender disqualification of the Provisional Credits statute as making Habitual Offenders ineligible for Provisional Credits on non-Habitual Offender sentences ONLY if the offender had PREVIOUSLY been adjudicated an Habitual Offender (in another case). In Anderson's case, since his Habitual Offender sentence was for a crime committed AFTER his non-Habitual Offender sentences, the First District felt that he should be eligible to receive Provisional Credits on the non-Habitual Offender sentences even though he was now an Habitual Offender. Dugger v. Anderson, 593 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Shortly thereafter, the Second District relied on the First District's decision in Anderson, to also hold that the Habitual Offender disqualification for the receipt of Control Release overcrowding gain time was applicable only if the Habitual Offender sentence was received before the other non-Habitual Offender sentences. See McBride v. State, 601 So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).5

⁵ It is very important not to confuse the First District's 2001 decision in McBride v. Moore with the Second District's 1992 decision in McBride v. State,

The original statute read, in pertinent part, as follows:

Whenever the inmate population of the correctional system reaches [the pertinent triggering point]... the secretary may grant up to 60 days of provisional credits equally to each inmate who is earning incentive gain-time, except to an inmate who:

(g) is <u>sentenced</u> or has previously been sentenced, <u>under s.</u>

775.084,[Habitual Offender statute] <u>or</u> has been <u>sentenced at any time</u> in another jurisdiction as a habitual offender.

§ 944.277(1)(g), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988) (Emphasis added).

Reviewing the statute and the holding in <u>Anderson</u>, one can see that apparently the First District thought the Legislature meant to prohibit out-of-state Habitual Offenders from receiving Provisional Credits regardless of when the Habitual Offender sentencing occurred and regardless of which sentence they were currently serving for in-state Habitual Offenders, the Legislature wanted these offenders kept in prison ONLY if they were currently serving their Habitual

⁶⁰¹ So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). McBride v. State does not conflict with the 2d DCA's decision in Downs since it was a pre-McBride v. Moore decision holding (similarly to Downs) that an Habitual Offender can still be awarded prison overcrowding gain time on earlier imposed non-Habitual Offender sentences. It was the 1992 decision in McBride v. State, that Downs originally relied on as his basis for asserting that he was eligible for prison overcrowding gain time despite his Habitual Offender sentence. The Second District specifically relied on Anderson v. Duggar, 593 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), for its decision in McBride v. State. In its 2001 decision in McBride v. Moore, the First District explicitly receded from Anderson. Since Anderson is no longer good law, McBride v. State should not be considered good law either.

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