IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., Secretary Florida Department of Corrections,

Case No. SC04-1153 L.T. Case No. 2D03-4364

Petitioner,

v.

CLARENCE W. DOWNS,

Respondent.

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF CLARENCE W. DOWNS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, State of Florida

> DEBORAH MARKS, ESQ. DEBORAH MARKS, P.A. Counsel for Clarence Downs 999 Brickell Bay Drive Suite 1809 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 372-9400 Fax (305) 716-9154

Introduction and Preliminary Statement

Statement of the Facts and Case

The operative facts in this case are few. DOWNS does not dispute the facts set forth by the Petitioner in its main brief. However, DOWNS would add the facts set forth in his preliminary statement- those being that since the entry of the mandate related to the decision on review he has been released and that release was not challenged on appeal. As a result, as to DOWNS, this appeal should be moot.

Summary of the Argument

The cases in conflict with DOWNS failed to consider ex post facto factors when holding that retroactive application of legislative amendments to F.S. §944.277(1)(g) made in 1992 to expressly add a class of inmate to those ineligible for provisional release credits. Those cases were decided based upon a now overruled decision of this Court and therefore are no longer good law for when one considers the ex post facto application of the 1992 amendments it becomes clear that one cannot retroactively add a class of people who at the time of their offense were eligible for credits to the class of those who are not without running afoul of the constitutional prohibition. DOC attempts to hold the other decisions to be the law that this Court should adopt by reaching out to an argument that the legislative change that expressly added an entirely new class of people wasn't really doing that- it was just "clarifying the old law" that had been misconstrued by the Courts. One can only clarify something that is ambiguous. The original 1988 statute was not ambiguous. The later legislative change was just that, a change. It may have added something that the legislature overlooked- but one can be sure that there are many laws that the legislature wishes it had passed each session and it is not free to pass them the following year when they realize that they REALLY should have done it the year before and retroactively apply them.

DOC has regularly attempted to lure this Court into violating the ex post facto prohibition against retroactive cancellation of release credits of one kind or another. Each time to date those attempts have resulted in reversal by the United States Supreme Court. This Court should not be lured by this overreaching argument that a significant legal change was nothing new. Nothing in the record supports it. The plain language of the statute before and after refutes it.

The District Court in this case beautifully laid out the law relative to reasons why it would have been an ex post facto violation to apply the 1992 amendment to Mr. Downs. This Court should affirm its analysis.

ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal Was Entirely Correct in its Determination That the 1992 Amendment to F.S. 944.277(1)(g) Could Not be Applied to Offenses That Occurred Prior to its Effective Date Without an Ex Post Facto Violation

DOC argues, as it has continuously in the history of proceedings dealing with attempts to take away gain time already statutorily made available to offenders at the time of the commitment of their offenses, that there is no ex post facto issue when a subsequently enacted piece of legislation would warrant a different result when applied to a particular defendant. That position, accepted by this Court on more than one occasion and reversed each time by the United States Supreme Court, has no merit. The DOC's argument that a substantial change in the wording of a statute that gives it an entirely different plain meaning (even if the legislature had, *maybe*, meant to say that in the first place although there is no real evidence on that issue) is "clarifying" and therefore can be retroactively applied stretches the word "clarifying" way too far.

DOC concedes at page 8 of its brief that the Legislature should not be allowed to retroactively change the law by simply asserting that it is "Clarifying its intent." That, however, is exactly what DOC seeks to have this Court accept in this case.

What is clear is that at the time of DOWNS original offenses, at the time when he accepted a plea bargain and was sentenced, the law relative to the application of credits permitted the application of the questioned credits unless at that time the inmate:

is sentenced, or **has previously been sentenced under s. 775.084** (habitual offender statute) or has been sentenced at any time **in another jurisdiction** as a habitual offender §944.277(1)(g), Fla. Stat. (supp. 1988)

However DOC chooses to place its emphasis, and it certainly did emphasize different aspects of those words than does DOWNS, by the plain reading of the above language if an inmate had never been sentenced as a habitual offender in another jurisdiction, was not being sentenced as a habitual offender in the offense then before the sentencing judge, or had not been previously sentenced under s. 775.084 they were entitled to credits. Period. Those were the only exclusions. DOWNS knew that when he made his contract with the State in accepting the plea bargains in his first offenses. The Judge knew it when he sentenced DOWNS for those offenses (and one would expect considered it in the term length awarded.)

Without question, in 1992 the Florida Legislature amended the wording of the statute to create language which would potentially make an inmate ineligible for credits if they were later sentenced as a habitual offender since they make an inmate ineligible for credits if AT ANY TIME the inmate is sentenced as a habitual offender. That happened, however, AFTER DOWNS sentencing. The record in this case does not include the legislative analysis discussed in the brief of appellant. DOC makes the bold statement on page 15 that the legislature had a "rather apparent intent" that habitual offenders not be released early when overcrowding occurred in the 1988 statute cited above and avers that the "apparent intent" was ignored when following the plain reading of the Statute the First District decided *Dugger v. Anderson*, 593 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 1DCA 1992). A review of that case, however, makes it clear that the Court found no ambiguity and did not "interpret" the statute- rather it did what it was supposed to do- enforce it as written.

DOC opines that the misreading of the Statute lead to a belief that the policy of the Florida Legislature would have a different treatment for a person who was at any time found to be a habitual offender in another State from one held in this State. That contorted logic asks us to believe that the Legislature considered that this Court would be sentencing someone who AFTER being sentenced here as a non habitual offender was sentenced as a habitual offender somewhere else and as a result of that we were going to eliminate the gain time credits in Florida. But, if that person were serving time.... How did they get sentenced later in that other State? It is hard to believe that there was a reasoned discussion for the disparate treatment- rather what is more likely is that what was considered was that no matter how remote the incident had been if a person had been sentenced in any other jurisdiction as a habitual offender we were not going to give them a break here with these credits. The Statute, as written, made sense. The only way that the language in the statute made grammatical sense would be to break it down with plain meaning- an inmate would lose eligibility for the credits if the current sentence was as a habitual offender or a prior sentence under that particular statute had been (the purely Florida alternative) or at sometime somewhere that party had been sentenced as a habitual offender. It is doubtful that the potential for a later habitual offender crime in another state had even been considered. No legislative materials were provided to back up that premise.¹

DOC, not liking the result that if a party became a habitual offender in a later sentencing their earlier sentences could still be subject to credits, did apparently seek legislative CHANGE to undo the plain reading of the statute so correctly decided in *Anderson*. Additional language was added to the Statute that did not clarify one of the prior classes but added a new class of persons to those who were ineligible for credits during the 1992 legislative session.

¹ In fact, the "clarification" that was made in 1992 is more ambiguous than it should be... it would have been far better to eliminate these gain time credits if a party was later sentenced as a habitual offender directly than using the "at any time" because then it rendered superfluous the preceding sentence fragment. That being said, any ambiguity on that issue has been dealt with by court decisions made since 1992 clearing up the meaning of that Statute for those whose offenses took place after its effective date. All persons who are sentenced for any crime know that if they later are sentenced as habitual offenders they will not be eligible for credits on any of their current sentences- no surprises come up later and it is factored into their plea decisions.

While the Fifth District in *Mamone v. Dean*, 619 So. 2d 36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) stated that the legislature had "remedied" the statute to show its "clear intent" that decision failed to appropriately consider the ex post facto application when applying that "intent" to inmates who, like DOWNS, had preexisting sentences and provided no basis for its finding that the statute was "remedial" rather than a change. The *Mamone* Court may have reached a different conclusion but for its easy dismissal of ex post facto factors. In fact, in *McBride v. Moore*, 780 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) the First District noted that the ex post facto argument could be disposed of BECAUSE of this Courts now overruled decision in *Dugger v. Rodrick*, 584 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1991). Perhaps had *Rodrick* not been deemed controlling, the First District would have reached the same correct conclusion reached by the District Court in DOWNS.

Art. I, § 10 of the Florida Constitution prohibits ex post facto laws. That provision has with great regularity been applied to attempts by DOC to retroactively knock out various types of gain time awarded by statute to inmates. This case is simply one more example of those continuing invalid attempts.

In December of 1998 this Court entered a series of opinions all of which lead to the inescapable conclusion that the DOWNS decision must be affirmed. In *Gomez v. Singletary*, 733 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1998) this Court exhaustively discussed the ex post facto issues related to provisional credit statutes. In its conclusion,

Justice Harding writing for the majority noted that "This Court has repeatedly accepted the State's view concerning retroactive legislation restricting gain time. Each of those times the United States Supreme Court vacated our decisions." This Court noted that when a new provision in a statute constricted an inmate's opportunity to earn early release- for whatever reason- it ran afoul of the prohibition against ex post facto laws. In Meola v. DOC, 732 So. 2d 1029 (Fla. 1998) this Court spoke to the acknowledgment that the United States Supreme Court in Lynce v. Mathis, 519 U.S. 433 (1997) had made it clear that overcrowding credits were, in fact, a type of credit that would be subject to an ex post facto evaluation and, in fact, noted that it was a factor directly considered in plea bargains and sentencing. Significantly *Lynce*, declared invalid the expost facto application of a legislative "clarification" such as the one herein where a class of prisoners who were previously eligible under a statute were made ineligible. In State v. Lancaster, 731 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 1998) this Court expressly discussed that the decision in *Lynce* mandated a holding that ex post facto principles do apply to overcrowding credits. In *Lancaster* Justice Overton writing for the majority noted that "it must be recognized that neither the legislature, the attorney general, nor this Court has been able to convince the United States Supreme Court that the Ex Post Facto Clause in the United States Constitution does not apply to gain time statutes." The case which DOC urges this Court to now accept as the law in Florida completely dismissed the ex post facto argument as already disposed of against the inmate. That decision cannot be affirmed. And, there is nothing that would indicate that had that District Court not been under the misapprehension that it could not and should not consider the ex post facto factors it would not have reached the same conclusion that the court did in DOWNS- that the constitutional issue trumps any attempt to create a "clarification" when what actually happened was the correction of a "whoops we missed that" from a clear piece of previously passed legislation.

The DOC has now raised a new and unique method to once again try to get around the ex post facto application argument by saying that a legislative amendment, made four years after the prior enactment, was a "clarification" when it added an additional class of inmates who would be ineligible for credits. It is essentially the same argument that this Court did not accept in *State v. Smith*, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989). When a statute changes as a result of a judicial interpretation that is correct for the statute as written- even if it is an attempt to more correctly state original legislative intent- it would be an ex post facto application to retroactively apply the new statute to pre statute offenses because it was a new statute that would only legally be effective as to those offenses that came after it. As noted by then Justice Barkett, "a future legislature may simply be wrong in its assessment of what a prior legislature actually intended."

The fact that in 1992 additional language was added to add a class of offenders does not mean necessarily that in 1988 and before that class had been considered and were meant to be included but had been excluded by a bad legal reading of an ambiguous statute. There is nothing ambiguous about the 1988 statute. The legal interpretations were not wrong. The legislature's change cannot be retroactively applied.

While correctly citing *Winkler v. Moore*, 831 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 2002) for the proposition that a legislature may not by legislative enactment retroactively change a person's sentence to their detriment, DOC then misreads the lesson when it argues that the 1992 amendments were really somehow applying pre 1992 law despite the clear wording of the 1988 statute.

As earlier noted, DOC cites to a bill analysis at page 22 of its brief that is nowhere part of this record. It avers that the analysis mentions an "erroneous interpretation" but DOWNS suspects (without having a copy of that analysis) that perhaps the analysis only notes how the statute had been analyzed without the "erroneous" connotation actually being within the analysis. There is no legislative intent in the bill that was passed- nothing to specify that it was a clarification. All we have is a new class of ineligible inmates- whose application to be constitutional must be held to be prospective only.

The case in conflict with the case at bar, *McBride v. Moore*, 780 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), dismissed any consideration of ex post facto application as a result of the now defunct *Dugger v. Roderick*. That constitutional consideration is a primary consideration which the District Court in DOWNS thoroughly outlined in its decision and found dispositive. The secondary finding in *McBride v. Moore*, that the new statute was a reaction to *Anderson* did NOT find that there was an application of "old law." What that court stated was that the statute in question had been amended to show an intent that habitual offenders be included. But for ex post facto application considerations, it would be within the legislature's prerogative to do so. However, since it is clear that ex post facto application factors must be applied to this question, the only Court that has done so and done so properly is the court in DOWNS.

Conclusion

For the above stated reasons, the Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal herein should be affirmed, and all conflicting opinions quashed.